# **Boise State University**

# **ScholarWorks**

Educational Technology Faculty Publications and Presentations

Department of Educational Technology

2022

# Synchronous Tools for Interaction and Collaboration

Patrick R. Lowenthal *Boise State University*, patricklowenthal@boisestate.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.boisestate.edu/edtech\_facpubs

Part of the Educational Technology Commons, and the Instructional Media Design Commons

## **Publication Information**

Lowenthal, Patrick R. (2022). "Synchronous Tools for Interaction and Collaboration". In O. Zawacki-Richter and I. Jung (Eds.), *Handbook of Open, Distance and Digital Education*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0351-9\_55-1



# Synchronous Tools for Interaction and Collaboration

Patrick R. Lowenthal

## Contents

Introduction	2
Evolution of Synchronous Communication in Distance Education	3
Affordances and Constraints of Synchronous Communication	5
Overview of Synchronous Tools	6
Audio-based Tools: Telephone and Audio Teleconferencing	6
Text-based Tools: Chat and Messaging	7
Video-based Tools: Video and Web Conferencing	8
Other Synchronous and Semi-Synchronous Tools	9
Implications for Research and Practice	9
References	10

#### Abstract

The history of distance education in many ways is a history about the evolution of synchronous and asynchronous communication technologies. Distance education, and online learning in particular, has primarily relied on asynchronous communication technologies over the years. However, COVID-19 has sparked a new interest in using synchronous tools for interaction and collaboration in open, distance, and digital education. Given this it is incumbent upon educators and researchers alike to be familiar not only with the current iteration of synchronous communication technologies but also with how they have developed and evolved over time, the affordances and constraints of synchronous communication, interaction, and collaboration, some of the different types, and the overall implications for future research and practice.

P. R. Lowenthal (🖂)

Boise State University, Boise, ID, USA e-mail: patricklowenthal@boisestate.edu

#### Keywords

 $\label{eq:synchronous communication} Synchronous communication \cdot Real-time communication \cdot Chat \cdot Audioconferencing \cdot Video conferencing \cdot Web conferencing$ 

#### Introduction

Open, distance, and digital education have evolved almost overnight with the demands of the COVID-19 pandemic. To be clear, open, distance, and digital education are not new. Distance education in the form of correspondence education dates back to the 1800s (Wedemeyer, 1981); open education, in the form of open universities, has been around since the 1960s (Tait, 2008); and digital education in its various forms (e.g., radio, television, online) has evolved throughout the last 100 years (Casey, 2008; Saba, 2011; Saettler, 2004). However, even with college enrollments in online learning consistently growing, and recently outpacing traditional in-person enrollments, before COVID-19, only about a third of students took online courses, and fewer instructors taught online (see Jaschik & Lederman, 2016; Seaman, Allen, & Seaman, 2018). This all changed with COVID-19. Within a couple of months, nearly every teacher and student on the planet gained some experience with distance and digital education (Stewart, 2021). However, as others have pointed out, the actual implementation of distance and digital education during COVID-19 has been more often than not an ad hoc version of distance and digital education (Hodges, Moore, Lockee, Trust, & Bond, 2020). Most colleges and universities found themselves with little time and resources and often little if any prior experience with distance education. Confronted with the need to continue teaching traditional in-person face-to-face courses at a distance, many faculty chose to simply hold classes online in live synchronous web meetings using web conferencing tools like Zoom, Google Meet, Microsoft Teams, or Webex (Dias, Lopes, & Teles, 2020; Lederman, 2020a, b). Web conferencing tools like these have enabled instructors and students to meet at the same time as their normally scheduled class but from a distance during COVID-19. These tools have also enabled administrators, faculty, and staff to work successfully from a distance during the pandemic (Lowenthal, West, Archambault, Borup, & Belt, 2021). Despite some of the challenges that arose with using these tools, many people suspect that communication technologies like these will continue and increasingly be used in both inside and outside of the classroom in various capacities in higher education when this pandemic is over (Dias et al., 2020; Lowenthal et al., 2021). Therefore, it is incumbent upon educators and researchers alike to be familiar not only with the current iteration of synchronous communication technologies but also with how they have developed and evolved over time, the affordances and constraints of synchronous communication, interaction, and collaboration, some of the different types, and the overall implications for future research and practice.

#### **Evolution of Synchronous Communication in Distance Education**

Synchronous communication is communication that happens at the same time or what some describe as in real-time (e.g., communicating in-person face-to-face, talking over the phone, meeting in a web conference). Synchronous communication is usually compared and differentiated from asynchronous communication in which communication does not happen at the same time or in real-time (e.g., when sending a letter or an email). The history of distance education in many ways is a history about the evolution of synchronous and asynchronous communication technologies. As new technologies, and specifically communication technologies, were developed, educators have experimented with how they could be used for teaching and learning (Garrison & Anderson, 2003). Over the years, as new forms of communication using that new technology have increased in popularity as educators gained more familiarity and expertise with using it (Garrison & Anderson, 2003; Harasim, 2000).

Most people trace the history of distance education back to early forms of correspondence study in the 1800s (McIsaac & Gunawardena, 1996). This early form of distance education relied on asynchronous communication via the postal service; students would receive lessons in the mail and then mail the completed lessons back to a tutor to correct them (Bower & Hardy, 2004). This early form of distance education enabled learners to be able to learn essentially from any place and at any time–an ideal and defining characteristic of distance education (see Garrison, 2009). However, due to the reliance on the postal service, there was little interaction between a student and a tutor.

During the 1920s, educators began experimenting with using radio and then later television to broadcast lessons for people to learn at a distance (Casey, 2008; Saba, 2011). This new form of broadcasting distance education enabled educators to communicate with a larger audience while still being able to learn from anywhere that had access to the broadcast. Despite these advantages, it strayed away from the ideal that one could learn at any time. It also did not provide a way for learners to interact with their instructor or peers and therefore did not enable back and forth synchronous communication and interaction (McIsaac & Gunawardena, 1996). This type of distance education continues to persist, even today, but it still has never arguably become mainstream, likely because of issues like this as well as issues of the cost, infrastructure, and planning required to deliver this type of distance education. Thus, broadcasting forms of distance education were never able to fully replace earlier forms of correspondence study (Garrison & Anderson, 2003; McIsaac & Gunawardena, 1996). Instead, advances in recording technology enabled educators the ability to supplement correspondence study print materials with audio and video cassettes, thus preserving the benefits of being able to learn from anywhere, at any time (Gunawardena & McIsaac, 2004; McIsaac & Gunawardena, 1996).

This all began to change during the 1980s. Educators were interested in finding better ways to not only share instructional materials but also to communicate and interact with students from a distance. As the rise of the Internet and personal computers grew during the 1980s, educators began to experiment with using

computer-mediated communication to communicate and interact with groups of learners from a distance (Harasim, 1986, 2000; Moore, 1989). For instance, Linda Harasim (1986) is often attributed with offering the first for-credit online course in 1986 in which she had a group of learners posting in text-based asynchronous discussion forums over the course of a semester. While it took some time to catch on and grow, online learning became the most prevalent form of distance education during the 1990s and 2000s (Rovai, 2009). These early iterations of online learning largely relied on asynchronous text-based communication (i.e., email and discussion boards) to interact, communicate, and collaborate with one another.

Online learning has continued to grow over the years. However, even long before COVID-19, many argued that there was not one type of online learning (Lowenthal, Wilson, & Parrish, 2009; Moore, Dickson-Deane, & Galven, 2011). Rather, online learning has manifested itself in different ways based not only on its use of technology but also other situational factors (e.g., for credit vs. not for credit; synchronous vs. asynchronous; self-paced vs. group paced). Academics have tried to develop taxonomies to help differentiate and make sense of these differences (Garrison & Anderson, 2003). With that said, early on and in many ways still to this day, one of the most common ways to differentiate online learning is by how instructors and students meet, interact, and communicate with each other. Thus, educators have often simply differentiated between in-person face-to-face, blended/ hybrid, and online courses-and more specifically, between synchronous or asynchronous online courses. As helpful as it can be to describe and differentiate online courses in this manner, it fails to recognize that few courses have ever truly been 100% synchronous or asynchronous. For instance, even courses that primarily used and relied on synchronous communication (e.g., instant messaging, web conferencing) also used other forms of asynchronous communication (e.g., email, a discussion forum, or a grade book in a learning management system); just as courses that relied heavily on asynchronous communication might use synchronous forms of communication to some degree (e.g., initial kickoff meetings on campus, phone calls, proctored exams or office hours on campus). As web conferencing technology has advanced and become more reliable during the last decade, educators have increasingly experimented with intentionally using both synchronous and asynchronous communication in online courses; some have described this practice as "blended online learning" (Fadde & Vu, 2014; Power, 2008) while others have more recently described it as bichronous learning (Martin, Polly, & Ritzhaupt, 2020). Around the same time, others began experimenting with providing even more flexibility by blending all possible course formats into what has been referred to as multi-access (Irvine, 2009; Irvine, Code, & Richards, 2013) and hybrid-flexible course design or HyFlex (Beatty, 2007, 2019). These types of courses have attempted to be what Smith, Reed, and Jones (2008) referred to as mode neutral, enabling students to choose to attend courses in person or online-whether synchronously or asynchronously-each week.

A few things are clear. Distance education has continued to evolve over the years. This evolution has been influenced in part by advances in technology as well as a desire to balance the ideals of anytime anywhere learning with regular interaction and collaboration. Early adopters have been eager over the years to experiment with new technologies; however, ultimately it is the pedagogy and perceived affordances and not simply the technology that influences which new iterations persist and grow (Garrison & Anderson, 2003; Irvine, 2020; Lowenthal & Mulder, 2017). Putting issues of labeling and semantics aside, boundaries between in-person face-to-face and online learning are disappearing with the help of COVID-19; most courses in higher education in the coming years will likely entail a blend of synchronous and asynchronous communication. But questions remain on which types of tools one should use and why.

#### Affordances and Constraints of Synchronous Communication

Online learning, from the first online course during the 1980s until today, has relied mostly on asynchronous text-based communication (Peterson et al., 2018). As mentioned earlier, this has enabled instructors and students to interact, collaborate, and ultimately learn from any time and from any place. However, despite affordances like these, people have been skeptical and even overtly critical of online learning, largely because of the perceived drawbacks of text-based asynchronous communication (Lowenthal & Dunlap, 2020; Oztok et al., 2013). Education is a social process that relies on social interaction and communication. Text-based asynchronous communication, though, has been criticized over the years for being inherently task-based and inadequate with relational and social communication (Lowenthal, 2010). More specifically, people have pointed out how text-based asynchronous communication lacks visual cues, takes time for conversations to develop, and can lead to misunderstanding or in educational settings it can feel like busywork (Gao et al., 2013; Fadde & Vu, 2014; Murphy & Coleman, 2004).

Research suggests, though, that synchronous communication might be able to address many of the challenges of text-based asynchronous communication (Johnson, 2006; Watts, 2016). For instance, synchronous communication, whether textbased (e.g., chat), audio-based (e.g., conference call), or video-based (e.g., web conferencing), happens in real-time. Communicating in real-time makes communication more efficient; it can help solve problems and clarify meaning by enabling one to pick up on one's tone and to ask follow-up questions, which in turn can help improve not only overall communication but ultimately the ability to collaborate (Lowenthal et al., 2017; McDaniels et al., 2016). In addition to the affordances of real-time communication, video-based synchronous communication enables people the ability to look others in the eyes, see their body language, and improve affective communication by establishing immediacy and social presence (Belt & Lowenthal, under review; Hrastinski, 2008; Park & Bonk, 2007; Parker & Martin, 2010). Web conferencing applications, in particular, enable participants the ability to share and view, discuss, and create materials in real-time-and even record meetings for later (asynchronous) viewing (Snyder & Garner, 2020).

However, despite the affordances of synchronous communication, it is not a panacea; there are a number of notable constraints with synchronous

communication. Perhaps most notable is that synchronous communication requires participants to meet in real-time, at the same time. It can be challenging, and sometimes even impossible, to find a time that works for everyone to meet–especially, when students might live across the world or simply have busy lives or nontraditional work schedules (Liu & Alexander, 2017; Lowenthal et al., 2020; Themelis, 2014). People also regularly face technical difficulties when using web conferencing applications, such as poor audio or video quality, often due to poor broadband connectivity (Lowenthal et al., 2021). Broadband issues, coupled with practices to require students to turn on their webcam, can also highlight inequities and aspects of students' lives that they could keep private in text-based asynchronous discussions (Bali & Meier, 2014). At the same time, affordances are lost when all or most students keep their webcam off or when the enrollment is so high that it makes it difficult to make eye contact, view one's body language, or even see all students webcam (see Day & Verbiest, 2021; Dennen, Word, & Arslan, 2021; Lowenthal et al., 2021). This is not to mention how class sessions held in web conferencing applications can turn into long lectures, which can encourage disengagement, distraction, and multitasking and result in students feeling frustrated and even exhausted (Lowenthal et al., 2020; Schulman, 2020).

#### **Overview of Synchronous Tools**

Educators have used a variety of synchronous tools over the years to improve interaction, communication, and collaboration in open, distance, and digital education. In the following section, some of the main types of synchronous tools used by educators, how they have been used and are currently used, and some relatively newer and emerging synchronous tools will be discussed.

#### Audio-based Tools: Telephone and Audio Teleconferencing

The telephone was the first widespread tool used in distance education for real time two way communication (Barron, 2004). Educators began experimenting with using the telephone for real time communication in the 1930s and 1940s but it did not become more commonplace until the 1970s and 1980s with audio teleconferencing (Garrison, 1985). There were four main ways that educators used the telephone as an instructional aid during the 1970s (i.e., teleteaching, telelecturing, dial-access, teletutoring; Flinck, 1975). Then, during the 1980s, universities even began offering "audio courses" for college credit (Olgren, 1997). This all became possible because as Garrison (1985) explains,

audio teleconferencing built upon the foundation of correspondence study by enhancing the quality of the interactive process among students and teacher. The ability of the student to receive immediate feedback from the teacher as well as fellow students without a corresponding loss of independence is a significant development in distance education. (p. 237)

Advances in telecommunications soon enabled educators to supplement audio teleconferencing with images or data transmissions (i.e., audiographic conferencing) and then video (Wolcott, 1994). But when people talk about audio-based synchronous tools in distance education, they are usually focusing on what Garrison (1985) referred to as the second generation of distance education and differentiating it from video or web conferencing (which will be discussed later). The telephone–whether that be with traditional landlines, cell phones, or VOIP (e.g., Skype)–is still used today to supplement distance education, however, it is often used more for one-to-one communication between an instructor and a student (Dunlap & Lowenthal, 2010). And while this is not scalable in many ways, Garrison (1985) pointed out that "the use of the telephone by a teacher for instructional purposes is perhaps the most personalized use of telecommunications in distance educations in distance education" (p. 237).

While a telephone or audio teleconferencing can add two-way real-time communication to distance education and online learning, it still (for the most part) lacks a visual channel and therefore as Wolcot early on pointed out "the abilities to both convey messages and to relate interpersonally is strained when the participants cannot see one another" (p. 141).

#### **Text-based Tools: Chat and Messaging**

Another common type of synchronous tools used in open, distance, and digital education are text-based chat and messaging tools. Text-based chat dates back to the early days of the Internet (Chatterjee, Abhichandani, Li, TuIu, & Byun, 2005). While the technology and features have changed over the years (e.g., Many chat applications today also enable video and/or asynchronous features), even in the early day's text-based chat was defined by short, rapid, text-based conversations happening in real time (Preece, Maloney-Krichmar, & Abras, 2003). These chat and messaging tools essentially could be used one-on-one in a private text-based chat or in a many-to-many group chat format (e.g., in chat rooms).

Internet relay chat, in particular, was created in the late 1980s (Chatterjee et al., 2005); though chat and messaging arguably did not become mainstream until the late 1990s with the development of applications like AOL Instant Messenger. But by the mid-1990s, educators were already experimenting with using chat and instant messaging in distance education courses (Duin & Archee, 1996; Kimbrough, Hochgurtel, & Smith, 1998). The use of text-based synchronous chat increased even more once learning management systems (LMS) began including their own chat tools. For instance, Kirby (1999) used chat rooms in WebCT to have online debates; students were apprehensive at first but after the second debate Kirby stated "were overwhelmingly positive about the synchronous learner-learner interaction and the activity as a learning experience" (p. 204). Early on researchers found that while text-based asynchronous discussions might be better for deep reflection,

synchronous chats were sometimes more effective with simulating a real conversation, building a sense of immediacy and community, and establishing social and teaching presence which in turn can decrease feelings of loneliness (Motteram, 2001; Stein et al., 2007; Wang & Chen, 2007). However, researchers quickly identified some drawbacks to chat and messaging tools. They found that they could favor fast typers, fast thinkers, and native speakers of a language, and lead to out-of-sync contributions and confusion, while also presenting accessibility issues (Bober & Dennen, 2001; Calvo, Arbiol, & Iglesias, 2014; Stein et al., 2007). Given this, researchers like Cox et al. (2004) concluded that chats should be supplemented with other forms of communication (e.g., text-based discussions). Thus, while chat and instant messaging tools continue to be used in open, distance, and online learning, they are often used in conjunction with other communication technologies. Further, increasingly chat and messaging apps today tend to have synchronous and asynchronous capabilities leading some to describe things like chat as almost being semi-synchronous because while you can see when someone is online and chat in real time, you can also send a message to be read and replied to sometime in the future when the other person is not online or not available to chat at that time.

### Video-based Tools: Video and Web Conferencing

Video-based tools – sometimes called videotelephoney, video conferencing, or web conferencing – are the most used synchronous communication tools today. Video conferencing dates back to the 1960s (Correia, Liu, & Xu, 2020); however, for the first few decades, special equipment was needed to essentially connect two or more locations – such as two different classrooms. Video conferencing, though, arguably did not really begin to catch on until the early 2000s with the development of applications such as Webex and Macromedia Breeze and the increase of high speed broadband Internet.

These new web conferencing applications eliminated the need for special equipment and for the first time allowed teachers and students to log on and join a web conference from anywhere with a stable high-speed internet connection. By the mid-2000s, educators were increasingly experimenting with using web conferencing for distance education, whether that be by offering weekly synchronous class sessions, supplemental synchronous sessions (e.g., review sessions, class presentations, guest presenters), or even weekly office hours. However, just as Cox et al. (2004) recommended in terms of using text-based chat, rarely have educators solely used web conferencing to teach a distance or online course; at minimum, email but often a learning management system are used in conjunction with these video-based tools.

From these early days until today, most web conferencing applications include a number of different synchronous applications-thus, making it difficult to truly label any of them simply as "video-based tools". For instance, they include not only the ability to share video through a webcam but also the ability to share audio and text-based communication in real time as well as the ability to screen share, share files,

and complete polls to name a few others. To complicate matters further, instructors and/or students can use a web conferencing application like Webex or Zoom and choose not to enable or use certain features. For example, an instructor can enable students to turn their webcams on or to use audio to communicate with others but students can choose to simply chat with others using text only.

Around 2010, companies started developing video chat tools (e.g., Skype and FaceTime) that enabled people to use video-based synchronous communication in one-on-one or in small groups. Instructors and students continue to use tools like this in distance and online learning but for the most part they are either in ad-hoc situations or for small groups but its use has never been as popular as web conferencing.

#### **Other Synchronous and Semi-Synchronous Tools**

There are still a number of other tools like online whiteboards that can be used without a web conferencing application or a number of tools that might better be classified as semi-synchronous because they can be used asynchronously or synchronously depending on when and how they are used. For instance, tools like Jamboard or Padlet that enable instructors to use them in real time like a whiteboard but students can also collaborate asynchronously over a period of time. Then there are other social networking tools like Twitter that have been used a lot in massive open online courses to enable students an authentic way to collaborate with other learners in a course as well as a larger community of practice. Tools like twitter enable users to post and for other users to view and if they choose to respond after the fact or if they are online at the same time (e.g., for twitter chats or as a back channel during live events) they can respond and chat in real time. Different tools like this, though not unlike web conferencing applications, continue to blur the boundaries between classifying something as purely synchronous or asynchronous.

#### Implications for Research and Practice

Research on open, distance, and digital education suggests that while there are some inherent affordances and constraints with different communication technologies, ultimately the success of using these communication technologies–whether they are synchronous, asynchronous, or even semisynchronous–depends not only on situational factors (e.g., how they are used in a given learning environment, the context they are used, etc.) but also on the experience, comfort level, and actual use of participants. For instance, web conferencing applications have the potential to address many of the constraints of text-based asynchronous communication; however, this assumes things such as that all of the users have their webcams on, that the group is not too large, and that the instructor is using the tool in an interactive, if not collaborative, way. Therefore, as the use of synchronous tools, and specifically synchronous video-based tools increases, more research needs to be conducted to find out under what contexts and which ways do adding synchronous tools to courses make up for the inconvenience of taking away the benefit of learning from any time that they want.

#### References

- Bali, M., & Meier, B. (2014). An affinity for asynchronous learning. *Hybrid Pedagogy*. https:// hybridpedagogy.org/affinity-asynchronous-learning/
- Barron, A. E. (2004). Auditory instruction. In D. Jonassen (Ed.), Handbook of research for educational communications and technology (2nd ed., pp. 949–978). Lawrence Erlbaum, Malwah, New Jersey.
- Beatty, B. J. (2007). Hybrid classes with flexible participation options–If you build it, how will they come. In M. Simonson (Ed.), 30th annual proceedings: Selected research and development papers presented at the 2007 annual convention of the association for educational communications and technology (Vol. 1, pp. 15–24). Association for Educational Communications and Technology, Bloomington, IN.
- Beatty, B. J. (2019). *Hybrid-flexible course design: Implementing student-directed hybrid classes*. EdTech Books, BYU, Provo, UT. https://edtechbooks.org/hyflex/
- Bober, M. J., & Dennen, V. P. (2001). Intersubjectivity: Facilitating knowledge construction in online environments. *Educational Media International*, 38(4), 241–250. https://doi.org/10. 1080/09523980110105150.
- Bower, B. L., & Hardy, K. P. (2004). From correspondence to cyberspace: Changes and challenges in distance education. *New Directions for Community Colleges, 2004*, 5–12. https://doi.org/10. 1002/cc.169.
- Calvo, R., Arbiol, A., & Iglesias, A. (2014). Are all chats suitable for learning purposes? A study of the required characteristics. *Procedia Computer Science*, 27, 251–260.
- Casey, D. M. (2008). A journey to legitimacy: The historical development of distance education through technology. *TechTrends*, 52, 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-008-0135-z.
- Chatterjee, S., Abhichandani, T., Li, H., TuIu, B., & Byun, J. (2005). Instant messaging and presence technologies for college campuses. *IEEE Network*, 19(3), 4–13.
- Correia, A. P., Liu, C., & Xu, F. (2020). Evaluating videoconferencing systems for the quality of the educational experience. *Distance Education*, 41(4), 429–452.
- Cox, G., Carr, T., & Hall, M. (2004). Evaluating the use of synchronous communication in two blended courses. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 20(3), 183–193. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1365-2729.2004.00084.x.
- Day, J., & Verbiest, C. (2021). Lights, camera, action? A reflection of utilizing web cameras during synchronous learning in teacher education. *The Teacher Educators' Journal*, 14, 3–21. https:// files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1296278.pdf.
- Dennen, V. P., Word, K. D., & Arslan, Ö. (2021). Webcams at work: A survey of learning professionals' practices and perceptions. [Research Brief]. Instructional Systems & Learning Technologies, Florida State University.
- Dias, M., Lopes, R. D. O. A., & Teles, A. C. (2020). Will virtual replace classroom teaching? Lessons from virtual classes via Zoom in the times of COVID-19. *Journal of Advances in Education and Philosophy*, 4(5), 208–213. https://doi.org/10.36348/jaep.2020.v04i05.004
- Duin, A. H., & Archee, R. (1996). Collaboration via e-mail and internet relay chat: Understanding time and technology. *Technical Communication*, 43(4), 402–412.
- Dunlap, J. C., & Lowenthal, P. R. (2010). Defeating the Kobayashi Maru: Supporting student retention by balancing the needs of the many and the one. *Educause Quarterly*, 33(4). https://er. educause.edu/articles/2010/12/defeating-the-kobayashi-maru-supporting-student-retention-bybalancing-the-needs-of-the-many-and-the-one

- Fadde, P. J., & Vu, P. (2014). Blended online learning: Benefits, challenges, and misconceptions. In P. R. Lowenthal, C. S. York, & J. C. Richardson (Eds.), *Online Learning: Common misconceptions, benefits, and challenges* (pp. 38–48). Nova Publishers.
- Flinck, R. (1975). The telephone as an instructional aid in distance education: A survey of the literature. Department of Education. University of Lund, Sweden. https://files.eric.ed.gov/ fulltext/ED112942.pdf.
- Gao, F., Zhang, T., & Franklin, T. (2013). Designing asynchronous online discussion environments: Recent progress and possible future directions. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44 (3), 469–483. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8535.2012.01330.x.
- Garrison, D. R. (1985). Three generations of technological innovations in distance education. *Distance Education*, 6(2), 235–241.
- Garrison, D. R., & Anderson, T. (2003). E-learning in the 21st century: A community of inquiry framework for research and practice. *RoutledgeFarmer*, New York, NY.
- Garrison, R. (2009). Implications of online learning for the conceptual development and practice of distance education. *Journal of Distance Education*, 23(2), 93–104.
- Gunawardena, C. N., & McIsaac, M. S. (2004). Distance education. In D. Jonassen (Ed.), Handbook of research for educational communications and technology (2nd ed., pp. 355–395). Lawrence Erlbaum, Malwah, New Jersey.
- Harasim, L. (1986). Educational applications of computer conferencing. *International Journal of E-Learning & Distance Education*, 1(1), 59–70. http://www.ijede.ca/index.php/jde/article/view/ 305.
- Harasim, L. (2000). Shift happens: Online education as a new paradigm in learning. *Internet and Higher Education*, 3, 41–61.
- Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T., & Bond, A. (2020, March). The difference between emergency remote teaching and online learning. EDUCAUSE Review. https://er.educause.edu/ articles/2020/3/the-difference-between-emergency-remote-teaching-andonline-learning
- Hrastinski, S. (2008). The potential of synchronous communication to enhance participation in online discussions: A case study of two e-learning courses. *Information & Management*, 45(7), 499–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2008.07.005.
- Irvine, V. (2009, June). The emergence of choice in "multi-access" learning environments: Transferring locus of control of course access to the learner. In G. Siemens & C. Fulford (Eds.), *Proceedings of ED-MEDIA 2009 – World conference on educational multimedia, hypermedia & telecommunications* (pp. 746–752). Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education.
- Irvine, V. (2020, October). The landscape of merging modalities. EDUCAUSE Review. https://er. educause.edu/articles/2020/10/the-landscape-of-merging-modalities
- Irvine, V., Code, J., & Richards, L. (2013). Realigning higher education for the 21st century learner through multi-access learning. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 9(2), 172–186. https:// jolt.merlot.org/vol9no2/irvine\_0613.pdf.
- Jaschik, S., & Lederman, D. (2016). The 2016 inside higher Ed survey of faculty attitudes on technology. Inside Higher Ed & Gallup. https://www.insidehighered.com/booklet/2016surveyfaculty-attitudes-technology
- Johnson, G. M. (2006). Synchronous and asynchronous text-based CMC in educational contexts: A review of recent research. *TechTrends*, 50(4), 46–53.
- Kimbrough, D. R., Hochgurtel, B. D., & Smith, S. S. (1998). Using internet relay chat to provide on-line tutorials in a distance-learning chemistry course. *Journal of College Science Teaching*, 28(2), 132–136.
- Kirby, E. (1999). Building interaction in online and distance education courses. In J. Price, J. Willis, D. Willis, M. Jost, & S. Boger-Mehall (Eds.), *Proceedings of SITE 1999 – Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education international conference* (pp. 199–205). Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education.

- Lederman, D. (2020a). The shift to remote learning: The human element. *InsideHigherEd*. https:// www.insidehighered.com/digital-learning/article/2020/03/25/how-shift-remote-learning-mightaffect-students-instructors-and.
- Lederman, D. (2020b). Will shift to remote teaching be boon or bane for online learning? *Insider HigherEd*. https://www.insidehighered.com/digital-learning/article/2020/03/18/most-teaching-going-remote-will-help-or-hurt-online-learning.
- Liu, J. C., & Alexander, R. (2017). Factors affecting faculty use of video conferencing in teaching: A mixed-method study. *Journal of Educational Technology Development and Exchange*, 10(2), 37–54. https://doi.org/10.18785/jetde.1002.03.
- Lowenthal, P. R. (2010). The evolution and influence of social presence theory on online learning. In T. T. Kidd (Ed.), Online education and adult learning: New frontiers for teaching practices (pp. 124–139). IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60566-830-7.ch010.
- Lowenthal, P. R., & Mulder, D. (2017). Social presence and communication technologies: Tales of trial and error. In A. Whiteside, A. Garrett Dikkers, & K. Swan (Eds.), *Social presence in online learning: Multiple perspectives on practice and research* (pp. 32–44). Stylus.
- Lowenthal, P. R., & Dunlap, J. C. (2020). Social presence and online discussions: A mixed method investigation. *Distance Education*, 41(4), 490–514. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2020. 1821603.
- Lowenthal, P. R., Dunlap, J. C., & Snelson, C. (2017). Live synchronous web meetings in asynchronous online courses: Reconceptualizing virtual office hours. *Online Learning*, 21(4). https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v21i4.1285.
- Lowenthal, P., Borup, J., West, R., & Archambault, L. (2020). Thinking beyond Zoom: Using asynchronous video to maintain connection and engagement during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 28(2), 383–391.
- Lowenthal, P. R., West, R. E., Archambault, L., Borup, J., & Belt, E. (2021). Faculty perceptions of using synchronous video-based communication technology. *Online Learning*, 25(4), 49–78. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v25i4.2890.
- Lowenthal, P. R., Wilson, B., & Parrish, P. (2009). Context matters: A description and typology of the online learning landscape. In M. Simonson (Ed.), 32nd Annual proceedings: Selected research and development papers presented at the annual convention of the Association for Educational Communications and Technology (pp. 161–172). Association for Educational Communications and Technology.
- Martin, F., Polly, D., & Ritzhaupt, A. (2020). Bichronous online learning: Blending asynchronous and synchronous online learning. *Educause Review*. https://er.educause.edu/articles/2020/9/ bichronous-online-learning-blending-asynchronous-and-synchronous-online-learning
- McDaniels, M., Pfund, C., & Barnicle, K. (2016). Creating dynamic learning communities in synchronous online courses: One approach from the Center for the Integration of Research, Teaching and Learning (CIRTL). *Online Learning*, 20(1), 110–129. https://doi.org/10.24059/ olj.v20i1.518.
- McIsaac, M. S., & Gunawardena, C. N. (1996). Distance education. In D. H. Jonassen (Ed.), Handbook of research for educational communications and technology (pp. 403–437). Simon & Schuster Macmillan.
- Moore, M. G. (1989). Three types of interaction. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 3(2), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923648909526659.
- Moore, J. L., Dickson-Deane, C., & Galyen, K. (2011). e-Learning, online learning, and distance learning environments: Are they the same? *Internet and Higher Education*, 14(2), 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2010.10.001.
- Motteram, G. (2001). The role of synchronous communication in fully distance education. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 17(2), 131–149.
- Murphy, E., & Coleman, E. (2004). Graduate students' experiences of challenges in online asynchronous discussions. *Canadian Journal of Learning and Technology*, 30(2). https://doi. org/10.21432/T27G7N.

- Olgren, C. H. (1997). Teaching by telephone. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, 71, 59-66.
- Oztok, M., Zingaro, D., Brett, C., & Hewitt, J. (2013). Exploring asynchronous and synchronous tool use in online courses. *Computers & Education*, 60(1), 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. compedu.2012.08.007.
- Park, Y. J., & Bonk, C. J. (2007). Synchronous learning experiences: Distance and residential learners' perspectives in a blended graduate course. *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, 6 (3), 245–264. http://www.ncolr.org/jiol/issues/pdf/6.3.6.pdf.
- Parker, M., & Martin, F. (2010). Using virtual classrooms: Student perceptions of features and characteristics in an online and a blended course. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 6 (1), 135–147. https://jolt.merlot.org/vol6no1/parker 0310.pdf.
- Peterson, A. T., Beymer, P. N., & Putnam, R. T. (2018). Synchronous and asynchronous discussions: Effects on cooperation, belonging, and affect. *Online Learning*, 22(4), 7–25. https://doi. org/10.24059/olj.v22i4.1517.
- Power, M. (2008). The emergence of a blended online learning environment. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 4(4), 503–514.
- Preece, J., Maloney-Krichmar, D., & Abras, C. (2003). History of online communities. In K. Christensen & D. Levinson (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of community: From village to virtual* world (pp. 1023–1027). Sage.
- Rovai, A. (2009). The internet and higher education: Achieving global reach. Chandos.
- Saba, F. (2011). Distance education in the United States: Past, present, future. *Educational Technology*, 51, 11–18.
- Saettler, P. (2004). The evolution of American educational technology. IAP.
- Schulman, C. (2020). I used to shut my windows to New York's noise. Now I long for a honking horn. Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/outlook/2020/04/09/new-york-silentcoronavirus/.
- Seaman, J. E., Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2018). Grade increase: Tracking distance education in the United States. Babson Survey Research Group.
- Smith, B., Reed, P., & Jones, C. (2008). 'Mode neutral' pedagogy. European Journal of Open, Distance and E-learning, 11(1). https://old.eurodl.org/?p=archives&year=2008&halfyear=1& article=315.
- Snyder, T., & Garner, B. (2020). Engaging faculty to connect with online learners in real time. EDUCAUSE Review. https://er.educause.edu/blogs/2020/11/engaging-faculty-to-connect-withonline-learners-in-real-time.
- Stein, D. S., Wanstreet, C. E., Glazer, H. R., Engle, C. L., Harris, R. A., Johnston, S. M., ... & Trinko, L. A. (2007). Creating shared understanding through chats in a community of inquiry. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 10(2), 103–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2007.02. 002.
- Stewart, W. (2021). A global crash-course in teaching and learning online: A thematic review of empirical Emergency Remote Teaching (ERT) studies in higher education during Year 1 of COVID-19. Open Praxis, 13(1), 89–102. https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.13.1.1177.
- Tait, A. (2008). What are open universities for? *Open Learning*, 23(2), 85–93. https://doi.org/10. 5944/openpraxis.13.1.1177.
- Themelis, C. (2014). Synchronous video communication for distance education: the educators' perspective. *Open Praxis*, 6(3), 245–256. https://doi.org/10.5944/openpraxis.6.3.128.

- Wang, Y., & Chen, N. S. (2007). Online synchronous language learning: SLMS over the Internet. Innovate: Journal of Online Education, 3(3). https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi? article=1102&context=innovate.
- Watts, L. (2016). Synchronous and asynchronous communication in distance learning: A review of the literature. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 17(1), 23–32.
- Wedemeyer, C. A. (1981). Learning at the back door: Reflections on non-traditional learning in the *lifespan*. The University of Wisconsin Press.
- Wolcott, L. L. (1994). Audio tools for distance education. In B. Willis (Ed.), *Distance education: Strategies and tools* (pp. 135–164). Educational Technology Publications.

**Open Access** This chapter is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license and indicate if changes were made.

The images or other third party material in this chapter are included in the chapter's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the chapter's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder.

